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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
15-17 Central Street

	Historic Name:  
William & Martha P. Boynton House & Store

	Uses:
Present: 
multiple residence

	Original: 
mixed use 

	Date of Construction:  ca. 1838

	Source:  deeds, historic maps

	Style/Form:   
Greek Revival
l

	Architect/Builder:  
unknown

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
stone

	Wall/Trim:  
vinyl clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


none

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


1st sty façade altered (commercial front removed)

Porch removed


Vinyl siding added


Window sash replaced



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:   0.11 acre

	Setting:   This house is sited on the west side of Central Street between the south end of the village commercial district and the Georgetown town hall. The area is a mix of residential, institutional, and commercial uses.


 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION   

The William & Martha P. Boynton House & Store, built ca. 1838, is a large two-story wood frame mixed use building (now a multiple dwelling)  located on the west side of Central Street south of Main Street.  The building was designed to contain William Boynton’s store and furniture-making shop as well as his residence with the front façade containing a business front as well as a large signboard above the second-story windows.
 The wide front-gable façade now has four windows and an entrance at the extreme north end on the first story, four windows in the second story, and three windows are spaced across the attic in the gable.  A Classical entablature distinguishing the raking roof edge and returning a short distance at the eaves, as well as other Greek Revival-period features, have been obscured by vinyl siding.  The north wall of the building is positioned close to the lot line and the building next door, while a open yard occupies the south side where there is a long, six-bay façade with a second entrance.  Currently there are five living units in the building; the front half of the side yard has been paved for a parking lot.

The William & Martha P. Boynton House & Store is an altered example of a mixed-use building associated with Georgetown’s early commercial development in the early 19th century.  Built ca.1838 with its wide gable end oriented to the street, the large house is an unusual example of a building designed for a combination of store, furniture shop and dwelling.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    

The house at 15-17 Central Street was built about 1838 for Georgetown merchant and trader William Boynton and his family. His family was among those Yorkshire people who had come to the New World with the Rev. Ezekiel Rogers in 1638 and settled the town of Rowley, from which Georgetown was separated in 1836. He was part of the seventh generation of descendants of the immigrant William Boynton and was born in Rowley in February 1810 to the innkeeper and militia major Ebenezer Boynton (1773-1838) and his wife Jane Todd. In November 1838 early Georgetown shoe manufacturer Joseph Little sold William Boynton a lot “on the road leading from Georgetown to Andover.”
  Boynton built a large house containing a store soon after.  
According to Henry M. Nelson’s 1888 history of the town, “Nearly, or quite, forty-five years ago William Boynton, now of Melrose, conducted quite a trade in, and some manufacture of, furniture on Central Street. He was also undertaker for the town.”

In 1846 William Boynton married Martha P. Dodge of Rowley, who died four years later at the age of forty.
  In 1854 Boynton married again, this time to Ann P. Boynton, the daughter of his first cousin William Boynton (born1801), who was a Rockport merchant and shipowner and also lived for a time in Georgetown, where he died in 1873.
 In 1860 Boynton is shown in the census as an insurance company secretary in a household with his wife Ann; his children Ella F., born in 1856, and Justin, born in 1859; and an Irish-born domestic servant. The household is shown between the households of John Bagley at 13 Central Street and Boynton’s cousin, the other William Boynton.  According to the town history, The Farmers' Mutual Company, of Georgetown, organized about 1848, had its office in Boynton’s house.
 
The Boyntons lived in this house in Georgetown until sometime between 1872 and 1880, by which latter year Boynton retired from the insurance business and moved with his family to Melrose. He died in Melrose in 1897, and the 1900 census shows his unmarried daughter Ella living there with an unmarried cousin. Ella F. Boynton was still living in Melrose in 1930, but she owned 15-17 Central Street until 1920 and clearly used the property for rental income; by 1918 it clearly housed two units. However, because the 1880 census does not include data on home ownership or rental and because the 1900 census does not list residents by street, much less street numbers, it is impossible to determine to whom she leased the property.

The earliest definitive information on renters is in the 1918 directory, which shows John J. Sweetser and his wife Alice as occupying 17 Central Street. Born in Groveland in 1893, Sweetser worked as a machinist and as a chauffeur; by 1930 he was driving for the Boxford nursery H. P. Kelsey.  Probably by 1920 15 Central was occupied by Frank Edward Meader, who was born in Epping, New Hampshire, and had lived in Georgetown since at least 1894, the year he married Grace J. Cook of West Brookfield. She died the next year, and in 1905 Meader married his second wife, Mary O’Connor of Haverhill, who had come to the United States from Ireland in the 1890s. Meader began his working life as a shoe cutter, but by 1918 he was working at a commercial laundry. He died in 1928, and in 1930 his widow Mary was renting 15 Central Street and living there with her son William, a telegraph operator; her son Frank, a salesman at the local A&P market, and younger sons Albert and Paul. The Meader family remained at 15 Central through at least 1932; by 1940 they had moved to a home on East Main Street.
In February 1920 Ella F. Boynton and other William Boynton heirs sold 15-17 and 19-21 Central Street to Georgetown attorney Robert F. Metcalf.
  (The New Rowley Universalist Church, built in 1832, had been moved to 19-21 Central Street in 1855 from its prominent site at the south end of Center Street to allow for the construction of the town hall.)  The son of shoe stitcher George L. Metcalf, Robert Metcalf was born in Georgetown in 1880 and grew up on the southeast side of Central Street, opposite this house. Metcalf, also the president of Georgetown Savings Bank, moved with his family to 21 Central Street; his widowed mother Olive lived at 19 Central Street. To whom he rented 15-17 Central Street has not been determined.
The 1957 directory lists 15 Central Street as vacant and 17 Central as occupied by Edward J. Watson, who had come to the United States from England with his parents in 1883. His father, James, was a stone mason, a trade Edward also followed. In 1905 he married Caroline Carney, a native of Lynn, and by 1930 the couple lived on North street with their children Clara and Carl, the latter of whom was a masonry apprentice, presumably with his father. 

At some point the boundaries of 15-17 Central Street were disputed, and from at least the early 1970s title to the property is recorded in Southern Essex County Land Court documents. Ownership of 15-17 Central Street changed relatively often; the property is currently owned by Gary B. Gastman and Laura J. Goldberg.

BIBLIOGRAPHY and/or REFERENCES
   


Arrington, Benjamin F., ed. Municipal History of Essex County in Massachusetts. NY: Lewis Historical Publishing Co., 1922.

Field, Jane. A Brief History of Georgetown Massachusetts 1838-1963. Rev. ed. 1988. Georgetown: Georgetown Historical Commission, 1988.

Gage, Thomas. The History of Rowley, Anciently Including Bradford, Boxford, and Georgetown, from the Year 1639 to the Present Time. Boston: F. Andrews, 1840.
Georgetown, Boxford, Byfield, Newbury, and West Newbury, Massachusetts, Directory. Boston: W. E. Shaw, 1901-2, 1905, 1909, 1912, 1914, 1916-17, 1918, 1925. 

Hill, Edwin P.  “History of Georgetown, Massachusetts.” In Standard History of Essex County, Massachusetts. Edited by Cyrus M. Tracey, William E. Graves, and Henry M. Batchelder. Boston: C. F. Jewett, 1878.

Hull, Forrest P. Georgetown: Story of One Hundred Years, 1838-1938. 1938. Reprint. Georgetown, MA: Georgetown Historical Commission, 2006.
Merrill, Samuel. A Merrill Memorial: An Account of the Descendants of Nathaniel Merrill, an Early Settler of Newbury, Massachusetts. Cambridge, MA, 1917-28.
Nelson, Henry M. “Town of Georgetown History.” In Hurd, D. Hamilton. History of Essex County, Massachusetts, with Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men. Vol. 1. Philadelphia: J. W. Lewis and Co., 1888.

MAPS

“Map of the Centre of Georgetown in 1800.” In Perley, Sidney H., “Centre of Georgetown in the Year 1800.”  The Essex Antiquarian: A Quarterly Magazine Devoted to the Biography, Genealogy, History, and Antiquities of Essex County, Massachusetts 2, 7 (July 1898): 201.
Map of Georgetown in 1810 and 1840. In Gage, Thomas. The History of Rowley, Anciently Including Bradford, Boxford, and Georgetown, from the Year 1639 to the Present Time. Boston: F. Andrews, 1840. 320.

“Map of New Rowley Surveyed and Drawn by Philander Anderson 1830.” Georgetown Historical Society.

Map of Georgetown. 1856. In Walling. H. F. A Topographical Map Essex County Massachusetts. Boston: Smith and Morley, 1856.

Atlas of Essex County, Massachusetts. Philadelphia: D. G. Beers and Co., 1872). Plates 59 and 61.

“Town of Georgetown Mass.” and “Village of Georgetown Mass.” In Atlas of Essex County, Massachusetts (Boston: George H. Walker, 1884).

“Georgetown, Mass. 1887.” Drawn and Published by George E. Norris, Brockton, Massachusetts. Troy, NY: Burleigh Lithographic Establishment, 1887.”
PHOTOGRAPHS (all photos by Neil Larson, 2012)
[image: image3.jpg]



15-17 Central Street: view from SE
National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form
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 FORMCHECKBOX 
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   Eligible only in a historic district
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  Contributing to a potential historic district          FORMCHECKBOX 
  Potential historic district
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    B        FORMCHECKBOX 
    C     FORMCHECKBOX 
    D

Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A      FORMCHECKBOX 
    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
    E      FORMCHECKBOX 
    F       FORMCHECKBOX 
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                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The William & Martha P. Boynton House & Store is an altered example of a mixed-use building associated with Georgetown’s early commercial development in the early 19th century.  Built ca.1838 with its wide gable end oriented to the street, the large house is an unusual example of a building designed for a combination of store, furniture shop and dwelling.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
� Anthony Mitchell Sammarco, for the Georgetown Historical Society, Images of America: Georgetown (Charleston SC: Arcadia Publishing, 2002), 10. 


� Joseph Little to John Bagley and Alfred B. Clough, 2 November 1838, SED 178:220


� Henry M. Nelson, “Town of Georgetown History,”  in History of Essex County, Massachusetts, with Biographical Sketches of Many of Its Pioneers and Prominent Men, ed. D. Hamilton Hurd (Philadelphia: J. W. Lewis and Co., 1888), 1:848.


� The 1840 census of Georgetown enumerates William Boynton after John Bagley (owner of 11 and 13 Central St.) as a head of household containing two teenage males and a female 30-39 years of age with two persons employed in manufacture and trade.  


� See John Farnham Boynton and Caroline Harriman Boynton, comps., The Boynton Family: A Genealogy of the Descendants of William and John Boynton, Who Emigrated from Yorkshire, England, in 1638, and Settled at Rowley, Essex County, Massachusetts (privately printed, 1897).


� Nelson, “Town of Georgetown History,” 1:848.


� Ella F. Boynton et al to Robert F. Metcalf, 18 February 1920, SED 2442:221, cited with an incorrect book and page number in Kelly J. Barber to Gary B. Gastman and Laura J. Goldberg, 17 February 2009, SE Land Court Document # 496024.
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